

# Leading for impact

## Australian guidelines for school leadership development



#### **Acknowledgement of Country**

The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL) acknowledges the traditional custodians of the land, sea country and waterways from across Australia. We honour and pay our respects to their Elders past, present and future.

AITSL has worked closely with key education stakeholders to develop the *Leading* for impact: Australian guidelines for school leadership development. These guidelines outline the importance of developing leadership at all levels, as well as the specific preparation for those aspiring to become principals and the ongoing support for those already in the role.

The Leading for impact: Australian guidelines for school leadership development was endorsed by Education Ministers at the Education Council on 8 December 2017.

© 2018 Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL).

Please cite this publication as:

Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership 2018, *Leading for impact: Australian guidelines for school leadership development*, AITSL, Melbourne.

ISBN 978-1-925192-66-7

First published 2018 Revised 2019

AITSL owns the copyright in this publication.

#### © () (S) ()

Content in this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial, No Derivatives 4.0 International Licence. To view a copy of this license, visit <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/</u>

Other than permitted above or by the *Copyright Act 1968* (Cth), no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored, published, performed, communicated or adapted, regardless of the form or means (electronic, photocopying or otherwise), without prior written permission of the copyright owner.

Address inquiries regarding copyright to:

AITSL, PO Box 299, Collins Street West, VIC 8007, Australia.

AITSL was formed to provide national leadership for the Commonwealth, state and territory governments in promoting excellence in the profession of teaching and school leadership with funding provided by the Australian Government.

## Contents

Preface 2
Summary of key messages
Introduction 4
Leadership development
What is needed to build a leadership development strategy and culture?6
What are the best ways to identify future leaders?
What are the capabilities needed for leadership in schools? 8
What are the best ways to develop future leaders?
What role do principals play in leadership development?      10
How can success be measured?12
Preparation and development for the principal role
How can future principals be identified?13
What preparation do aspiring principals need? 14
What does the effective recruitment and selection of principals look like?
How can principals be supported and developed in the role?
Evidence base 19

1

## Preface

When it comes to the progress and achievement of young learners, school leadership matters.

Strong evidence exists that leadership which focuses on improving teaching and learning has a significant impact on student achievement. This impact is amplified in schools in challenging circumstances. This is also the case when leading teaching and learning is widely distributed so there is a shared responsibility for improving the quality of teaching across a school.

For Australia to achieve its goal of making sure all young Australians become successful learners and achieve excellent outcomes, it is essential that leaders in all jurisdictions and at every level of school leadership are properly equipped to have the maximum impact on teaching and learning. School leadership development has to be a national priority in education.

Leading for impact: Australian guidelines for school leadership development (the Guidelines) sets out evidence-based guidance to support a nationally coherent and standards-based approach to leadership development in all jurisdictions and schools.

## Summary of key messages

The following key messages recognise that strong school leadership at all levels is important and, as part of this, that principalship is a distinct role that requires specific preparation and support.

#### Leadership development

School leadership that focuses primarily on improving teaching quality has the greatest impact on learner outcomes. Developing the capacity to lead teaching and learning effectively is crucial to the future success of any school leader.

Viewing talent from a broad perspective and creating an extensive pool of culturally and demographically diverse people interested in all levels of school leadership contributes to increased leadership capacity. This approach recognises that leadership attributes are not fixed, can be developed over time, and will result in greater uptake of leadership roles.

When principals, along with their leadership team, understand and value their role in leadership development, they become key enablers to finding and developing future leaders. They should be supported to prioritise the development of leadership within and beyond their schools. To make sure this happens, current principals and school leaders should be provided with targeted professional learning experiences, and the expectation for leadership development should be built into their performance and development goals.

#### **Principal preparation**

The most effective principal preparation programs and experiences are those which:

- deepen pedagogical expertise
- increase capacity to lead teaching and learning to have a positive impact on student outcomes
- strengthen interpersonal skills
- develop management and leadership skills, including business and strategic acumen.

Effective recruitment and selection processes gather high-quality information through well-designed and targeted recruitment activities. They place emphasis on actual behaviours and actions demonstrating application of personal qualities and impact on teaching and learning, rather than qualifications and perceptions of personal qualities that are not substantiated by evidence.

Support in the principal role should be ongoing and start with comprehensive induction. Development should build opportunities for all principals to continually update their leadership and management skills and strengthen networks through collaboration with peers and the wider community.

#### The leadership pool

Active steps are needed to increase equality and diversity within the leadership pool. Implementing purposeful strategies and using multiple and objective methods will find individuals who may not have identified themselves as a future leader or potential principal, but who have a valuable contribution to make in leadership.

## Introduction

#### Why is high-quality school leadership important?

High-quality school leadership is pivotal to delivering the best outcomes for young Australians. School leaders make the greatest impact on the progress and achievement of learners by using their educational expertise and management skills to focus the efforts of everyone in the school on improving the quality of teaching and learning. They do this in fast-changing and increasingly complex circumstances, understanding that the strong foundations of a great education are critical for preparing today's learners for the world of tomorrow. Regardless of the setting, these leaders know that teachers need the expertise to understand how their students learn and how to help them make the next steps in their learning.

Leadership that enables teachers to practise in a culture of professional learning and growth, where they work with others to develop and share expertise, creates the best conditions in which young Australians can thrive and achieve. In practice, this involves:

- · establishing goals and expectations and involving staff and others in the process
- strategic allocation of resources to make teaching goals a priority
- planning, coordinating and evaluating teaching and the curriculum
- promoting and participating in both formal and informal teacher learning and development
- ensuring an orderly and supportive environment to protect time for teaching and learning (Robinson, 2007).

'The more leaders focus their influence, their learning, and their relationships with teachers on the core business of teaching and learning, the greater their likely influence on student outcomes.'

- Robinson, 2008

4

#### What is high-quality school leadership?

High-quality school leadership is outlined in the Australian Professional Standard for Principals and the Leadership Profiles (the Principal Standard) and the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers (the Teacher Standards) at the Highly Accomplished and Lead career stages. Both Standards recognise that high-quality school leadership is the practice of positively influencing individual and collective teaching expertise in a professional learning culture to secure a strong rate of progress for all learners.

High-quality school leadership can be demonstrated by individuals at all levels of a school, including those in formal leadership positions, such as assistant principals or curriculum leaders, and those without a formally defined role.

#### School leaders and principals

Effective school leaders are the people in schools who create the conditions for others to understand their impact on student outcomes and continually improve their teaching practice. They can do this as individuals but they have greater influence when operating within cohesive leadership teams, and when they draw on both the Principal Standard and Teacher Standards in developing the required skills and attributes. Principals are school leaders with a distinct leadership role that is broad, complex and evolving. This breadth and complexity is captured in the descriptions of behaviours at increasing levels of proficiency across five Professional Practices in the Leadership Profiles (the Profiles):

- Leading teaching and learning
- · Developing self and others
- · Leading improvement, innovation and change
- · Leading the management of the school
- Engaging and working with the community.

Principals have significant responsibility for ensuring high-quality teaching and learning and continuous progress for all learners. Effective principals use their educational expertise and management skills to create a school culture in which staff are able to focus on understanding their impact and improving their practice, so that all learners make progress and achieve.

#### How can the Guidelines help develop high-quality school leadership?

This document builds on the Australian Charter for the Professional Learning of Teachers and School Leaders (the Charter) and the Australian Teacher Performance and Development Framework (the Framework). It is designed as a guide to help jurisdictions, principals and other school leaders enhance current approaches to develop and strengthen school leadership across the nation and is presented in two sections.

Section 1 – Leadership development	Section 2 – Principal preparation
Focuses on developing leadership capacity more broadly	Focuses on the specific role preparation required for principalship
Describes how to develop and sustain school leadership at all levels	Acknowledges the distinct role of the school Principal within the broader leadership of a school
Recognises leadership emerges and develops when a range of opportunities to lead and high-quality professional learning experiences are provided	Outlines how to prepare individuals for this position and provide ongoing development following appointment to the role

Collectively, the Guidelines support a coherent and strategic approach to the development of school leadership across Australia and an equitable, standards-based professional learning experience for school leaders at all levels. They recognise that working across both the Teacher Standards and Principal Standard is important for reflecting on and improving leadership practice, and that leadership pathways are diverse and no less valuable if they don't lead to principalship.

## Leadership development

# What is needed to build a leadership development strategy and culture?

Effective development is best when strategic priorities and actions for leadership growth:

- recognise the richness of Australian school contexts and community cultures
- are future-focused and clearly communicated across a jurisdiction or school
- · support the jurisdiction's or school's overall education goals and equity and diversity targets
- address challenges in sustaining an effective leadership workforce.

Establishing these priorities is the first important step in finding and developing future leaders. Ongoing review will ensure they retain relevance and currency as circumstances change. The world that young Australians are being prepared for is advancing at an ever-increasing rate, so leadership in schools needs to keep pace. Strategic priorities should be communicated to all members of the jurisdiction, network or school to elevate the importance of leadership development, increase its profile and ensure that leaders are prepared for the future.

An effective leadership development strategy focuses on increasing the quantity, quality and diversity of future leaders for all school leadership roles and in all geographical locations, from rural and remote to metropolitan. Diversity in leadership teams correlates with improved performance and contributes to increased innovation and more creative approaches to problem-solving. Embedding strategies to find future leaders in under-represented groups – including women, people with a disability and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples – within systemic identification processes will achieve greater equality and improve diversity. These strategies should support individuals to retain their cultural identity and value the contribution it makes to leadership.

Successful implementation of a leadership strategy depends on culture. Culture describes the way that people behave and significantly influences who will step up and lead, whether in an informal or formal capacity. Deliberately developing a culture that encourages every individual to consider themselves as a leader and participate in leadership activities is critical. Early development of a leadership identity increases the likelihood of an individual taking up a leadership position in the future. Supportive and regular opportunities to engage in leadership should be provided in a safe-to-fail environment, so more teachers form a view that they can and, more importantly, want to lead.

#### What are the best ways to identify future leaders?

Viewing talent from a broad perspective and creating a diverse and extensive pool of people interested in all levels of school leadership is integral to growing leadership capacity across a jurisdiction or school. This approach reflects contemporary practice and recognises that leadership attributes are not fixed, but can be developed over time with targeted professional learning experiences and the proper support. It moves away from focusing on individuals as 'hero' leaders towards fostering collective and collaborative leadership capacity. This strengthens leadership and ensures all those with aspirations to lead in the future are supported to set targeted development goals and develop from early in their careers.

#### Recommendations

#### 1

Establish a leadership development strategy and communicate its priorities to all members of the jurisdiction, network or school.

## 2

Implement purposeful strategies and use multiple and objective methods to find future leaders.

## 3

Create a culture that encourages every individual to develop a leadership identity.

#### What are the capabilities needed for leadership in schools?

The Principal Standard and the Teacher Standards at the Highly Accomplished and Lead career stages detail what effective school leaders should know, understand and do at a range of career stages. Both recognise the breadth and complexity of school leadership, and are important resources when considering the leadership capabilities required at different career stages and across different contexts.

Although leadership is multi-faceted and includes a strong focus on management, there are other capabilities that are also particularly important. School leadership that focuses primarily on improving teaching quality has the greatest impact on learner outcomes. Leading teaching and learning effectively is crucial to the future success of any school leader. Potential leaders should be provided with support to develop the pedagogical expertise this requires, as well as the skills needed to lift the performance of colleagues, from early in their career. This will enable them to contribute effectively to understanding the impact of teaching on learners' progress and building a culture of learning across the school.

High-performing leaders consistently demonstrate sophisticated personal and interpersonal qualities, including:

- self-awareness and personal wellbeing
- · self-management, including emotional intelligence, empathy and resilience
- social awareness
- relationship management.

They apply these qualities and skills to understand and respond to culture and community, develop strong relationships, inspire and challenge others, and manage difficult situations and conversations. The development of future leaders should emphasise the growth of these skills over time and from early in their careers.

#### Recommendations

## 1

8

Use the Teacher Standards at the Highly Accomplished and Lead career stages and the Principal Standard to establish the leadership capabilities required at all levels of school leadership.

## 2

Prioritise leading teaching and learning, personal qualities and interpersonal skills, alongside management skills, in the leadership capabilities required.

#### What are the best ways to develop future leaders?

High-quality professional learning matched to capability and school and community context is important for developing the behaviour of future school leaders. By providing opportunities to lead, professional learning and time to act on feedback can be provided in context. Learning should take place in a culture where individuals are expected to be reflective and active learners, and where there are performance and development processes that provide them with frequent, constructive feedback and support to improve their leadership.

Professional learning is most effective when it is:

- relevant and evidence-informed so it links closely to the individual's learning needs and the jurisdiction's or school's goals and initiatives
- collaborative so individuals are connected with colleagues beyond their school, and provided with access to the required expertise and structured processes to test ideas and challenge current practice
- future focused so individuals develop the adaptability to respond to new and unexpected challenges, and a shared responsibility to solve problems and make a positive difference.

The Charter and the Framework describe the culture and processes for effective collaboration and professional growth. These should be implemented in all Australian schools. Effective leadership development is a career-long process that involves a range of professional learning activities. Extended experiences that involve learning within the context of work allow individuals to practise and refine their skills in real situations and receive ongoing feedback. These experiences contribute most effectively to sustained behaviour change and should be factored into the ongoing development of future leaders. Other experiences that focus primarily on acquiring new knowledge must be balanced with opportunities to translate that knowledge into practice.

When diverse and extensive professional learning experiences are complemented with access to relevant and timely advice and support from colleagues, mentors and coaches, growth is accelerated. Networks foster social capital across the jurisdiction or school, and provide structures for individuals to seek help from others. Establishing networks should be deliberate and a core element of professional learning.

#### Recommendations

Implement the Australian Charter for the Professional Learning of Teachers and School Leaders and the Australian Teacher Performance and Development Framework.

## 2

Provide extended experiences that involve learning within the context of work and the provision of ongoing feedback. 3

Establish networks to support leadership development.

9

#### What role do principals play in leadership development?

The pathways to leadership are varied and principals play an important role in supporting teachers on their journey. This role is outlined in the Principal Standard, which sets the expectation that principals will support all staff to build their leadership capacity. This begins with principals understanding their position as a role model for emerging leaders and aspiring principals. The role of principal brings enormous reward and satisfaction, and it is important that colleagues have the opportunity to see the role in the best light possible.

When principals, along with their leadership team, understand and value their role in leadership development, they are key enablers to finding and developing future leaders. They should be supported to prioritise the development of leadership within and beyond their schools, and build the capacity to carry out this important work. To make sure this happens, current principals and school leaders should be provided with targeted professional learning experiences to build knowledge and skills in leadership development strategies, and the expectation for leadership development should be built into their performance and development goals.



Effective jurisdictions and schools make the most of their workforce and give successful leaders scope to use their expertise to lead professional and organisational development. Explicit, formalised roles for expert current and retired principals, as well as other school leaders, should be established to support a shared responsibility for the development of future leaders. Examples of these are:

- helping to design, deliver and assess professional learning for future leaders
- · assessing future leaders' readiness for promotion
- · participating in the recruitment of principals
- mentoring and coaching future leaders
- supervising and supporting a future leader's participation in an internship/secondment
- · taking on system or network leadership responsibilities
- sharing advice and expertise in system/sector publications.

Principals who engage and develop potential leaders are more effective in attracting and retaining individuals to leadership positions. This involves using leadership knowledge and expertise to structure professional conversations with future leaders. The positive effects of targeted, purposeful and systematic coaching on career development are well recognised, with those who receive coaching more likely to set goals for their development, seek ideas for improvement, act on feedback from colleagues and supervisors, and improve their performance. Coaching is a skill and comprehensive training should be provided to help principals develop the capacity to do it effectively.

#### Recommendations

1

Provide principals with targeted professional learning to build the capacity to prioritise leadership development within and beyond their school.

## 2

Build the expectation for leadership development into principals' performance and development goals.

## 3

Establish explicit, formalised roles to harness the expertise of highly skilled and accomplished current and retired principals to support leadership development. This should include coaching roles.

#### How can success be measured?

It is important that leadership development activities are evaluated for impact and that findings are used to inform future strategic directions. Successful jurisdictions and schools are increasingly using data and metrics to track and report on leadership development achievements, and to inform decision-making on future actions and investments.

By collectively identifying and articulating the objectives of leadership development strategies before implementation, jurisdictions and schools can identify appropriate metrics and measurement methods, track progress over time, and assess success. Building on success and addressing areas for development as a key focus for ongoing review and implementation will improve provision of leadership development.

#### Recommendations

1

Articulate the leadership development strategy's objectives and identify appropriate metrics and measurement methods. 2

Track progress over time, assess success and continually improve provision in response to findings.

# Preparation and development for the principal role

#### How can future principals be identified?

Principal preparation should build on a jurisdiction's or school's broader leadership development strategies and activities, and continue to match learning to an individual's career stage, capabilities and contexts. By providing regular and diverse opportunities to engage in leadership, those individuals with a particular aptitude and interest in principalship will emerge. It is important that these emerging leaders are identified and provided with clear career pathways, strong preparatory experiences and ongoing support.

Clear career pathways through middle and senior leadership positions help retain emerging leaders in the profession and motivate them to pursue future leadership opportunities. When formal leadership roles are fully integrated with, and underpinned by, broader professional learning and performance and development processes, emerging leaders have the necessary structures to reflect on their progress along the career pathway. Informal leadership roles also provide platforms for developing aspiring principals.

When a range of formal and informal methods and data are used to identify potential principals, it offers a more comprehensive picture of their leadership potential. A key resource in this process should be the expertise of serving principals, and jurisdictions and employers should support them to understand their critical role in the principal preparation process and develop the necessary knowledge and skills to recognise potential.

This work can be supplemented with other approaches such as:

- assessment centres
- 360-degree feedback tools
- self-reflection tools and activities
- · activities designed to recognise leadership potential
- internal assessments as part of performance and development processes
- psychometric assessment tools.

Implementing purposeful strategies and using multiple, objective methods helps to find eligible candidates who may not have identified themselves as a potential principal and increases equality and diversity within the aspirant pool.

#### Recommendations

Implement purposeful strategies, and use both formal and informal, and multiple, objective methods to identify a diverse group of emerging leaders with a particular aptitude and interest in principalship.

## 2

Develop principals' understanding of their critical role in principal preparation and their expertise to support identification of future principals. 3

Provide clear career pathways to principalship.

#### What preparation do aspiring principals need?

Educational research continues to shape new thinking for what works best for learners, technological advances are shaping educational directions, and the cultural diversity of school communities is increasing. As a result, the role of school principal in Australia is complex and evolving. By developing a disposition for learning, a broad range of skills and the confidence and aptitude to apply them with impact, aspiring and new principals will be better prepared to keep pace with trends and new research, and respond effectively to culturally diverse communities. This helps to develop principals who are agile, informed and successful in the role.

The aim of principal preparation must be to ensure a supply of suitably qualified and skilled applicants to meet demand. Preparation should be comprehensive, aligned to the expectations set out in the Principal Standard, and ensure quality professional learning experiences are available to all those ready to undertake them so that aspiring principals are ready to step into principalship and begin their ongoing development in the role.

Formal leadership preparation programs provide a discrete, time-bound experience that can be factored into a full-time workload, and an opportunity for participants to step out of their role and reflect on their next step along the professional pathway. These programs are most effective when they are evidence-informed and align with the Principal Standard and the jurisdiction's or school's broader education strategy. They should accommodate the existing knowledge and skills of participants, using this as the starting point for learning.

Principal preparation programs should allow participants to apply theory in the context of their work and demonstrate transfer of learning into current or future contexts. Establishing partnerships between jurisdictions and schools and principal preparation program providers helps to align participants' learning with the actual needs of the jurisdiction and context.

*Evaluating your Principal Preparation Programs: A Practical Guide* sets out an evidence-based approach to assessing the impact of such initiatives. The guide supports the evaluation of impact of principal preparation programs and can assist with the continual improvement of provision.

Programs are just one approach to principal preparation. Internships, shadowing and acting principal roles, where substantial support is provided, also offer valuable principal preparation experiences that provide the opportunity for highly relevant, job-embedded professional learning.

All principal preparation programs and experiences should:

- deepen pedagogical expertise
- increase capacity to lead teaching and learning to have a positive impact on student outcomes
- strengthen interpersonal skills
- develop management and leadership skills, including business and strategic acumen.

Formal and explicit processes to assess readiness for the principal role that are based on demonstrated leadership, rather than age, length of time in the profession or progression through formal leadership positions, support the professional development of aspiring principals. These processes might include the achievement of a qualification, credential or certification.

In all cases they should:

- recognise and promote expertise in high-quality school leadership
- provide an opportunity for aspiring principals to understand, experience, reflect on and develop their leadership practice
- provide assurance that potential candidates have been involved in a range of preparation experiences, have demonstrated impact on student learning outcomes, and are suitably equipped for the principal role.

#### **Recommendations**

### 1

Ensure all principal preparation experiences and programs are evidence informed and align with the Principal Standard and the criteria outlined above.

## 2

Evaluate all principal preparation experiences and programs for impact and use findings to continually improve provision.

## 3

Implement formal and explicit processes to assess readiness for the principal role.

## What does the effective recruitment and selection of principals look like?

Recruitment and selection to principalship needs to attract a diverse range of applicants who meet the expectations set out in the Principal Standard and the needs of a school. Deliberate and strategic approaches to recruitment planning help to best match a candidate's skillset to a leadership position. Innovative approaches to recruitment that go beyond the traditional written application and interview provide a more comprehensive assessment of leadership capacity. Approaches should include processes to target applicants from under-represented groups to achieve the broadest possible pool of suitable potential candidates.

Ensuring members of the recruitment and selection panel are equipped with the necessary knowledge and understanding to evaluate each applicant objectively and contribute to an informed selection is equally important. Experts that understand and can represent the community and school's needs, appreciate the desired leadership competencies, as well as principles of equality and diversity, are best placed to serve on selection panels. This requires training for panel members in key areas, including the expectations set out in the Principal Standard and awareness of unconscious bias.

The recruitment and selection panel needs high-quality information about each candidate, which is gathered through well-designed and targeted recruitment activities. Rather than relying solely on qualifications and perceptions of personal qualities that are not substantiated by evidence, emphasis is placed on actual behaviours and actions demonstrating application of personal qualities and impact on teaching and learning.



Such activities may include:

- competency-based questions and tasks that focus on whether a candidate has the capabilities to be an effective principal
- critical incident questions and tasks that focus on a critical situation, which offer the opportunity to demonstrate the required capabilities
- a requirement to deliver a presentation, under explicit conditions and time limits, to help demonstrate the ability to develop and communicate a clear vision and message
- observation of leadership in action and on site, or simulated through task-based activities
- behavioural interview questions that focus on descriptions of past behaviour, which are likely to give an indication of capacity.

In each case, the activities should reflect the dynamic nature of the principal role and involve internal and external situations and stakeholders. Responses should be evaluated against agreed criteria in order to minimise any bias in interpretation.

#### Recommendations

2 3 Provide training for panel Design and implement Include processes to target under-represented groups members to ensure they targeted recruitment in the recruitment and are equipped to evaluate activities that place selection of principals. each applicant objectively. emphasis on actual behaviours and actions demonstrating application of personal qualities and impact on teaching and learning.

#### How can principals be supported and developed in the role?

Effective induction provides newly-appointed principals with theoretical and practical knowledge to shape their early experience in the role. The process goes beyond clarifying rules, regulations, processes and expectations to providing an introduction to school culture, community and relationship-building. It should be embedded in daily practice, occur over an extended period of time, give consideration to context, and focus on skill development and inquiry into practice. It should align with processes for ongoing, standards-based performance and development, and provide access to networks and relationships with system professionals and line managers.

All principals need to continually update their skills and knowledge. Cultivating a learning mindset is a priority for the ongoing development of effective principals. Newly-appointed and experienced principals alike, must have meaningful and effective adult learning experiences that:

- are linked to school improvement processes and student learning needs
- · are differentiated based on individual needs assessments
- provide ongoing opportunities for feedback and reflection, as well as time to action next steps
- offer guided learning through action research, job-embedded learning and intentional practice.

These experiences might include:

- mentoring and coaching provided by suitably qualified/trained individuals
- · working with network colleagues to address a shared problem or challenge
- attending professional learning seminars and workshops
- · participating in formal executive leadership programs
- undertaking growth-based performance appraisal and professional development planning.

When induction and ongoing development are based on the Principal Standard, school leadership expectations are clear and strong guidance can be provided for new and experienced leaders.

#### Recommendations



## **Evidence base**

AITSL has drawn on the following evidence base to develop this policy:

The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership 2014, *Innovative induction case studies*, Australian Institute of Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne.

Barber, M, Whelan, F & Clark, 2010, M Capturing the leadership premium – How the world's top school systems are building leadership capacity for the future, McKinsey & Company, Melbourne.

Billings, J & Carlson, D 2016, Promising Practices in Boosting School Leadership Capacity: Principal Academies, National Governors, Association Center for Best Practices, Washington DC.

Bolden, R 2010, Leadership, Management and Organisational Development in Gold J, Thorpe R, Mumford A (Eds.) Gower Handbook of Leadership and Management Development Fifth Edition Gower Publishing Company USA p. 129.

Breakspear, S, Peterson, A, Alfadala, A & Khair, M 2017 Developing agile leaders of learning: School Leadership policy for dynamic times, Qatar Foundation, World innovation summit for education, Qatar.

Byham W C, Smith AB, Paese, M J, 2002 Grow your own leaders, Financial Times Press.

Caldwell, B.J 2016 Autonomy and Principal Preparation, The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne, unpublished.

Caldwell, B.J 2016 *High Level of professional autonomy for school leaders – an important strategy for lifting the performance of schools*, The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne, unpublished.

Campbell, M & Smith, R 2014, *High potential talent – A view from inside the Leadership pipeline*, Center for Creative Leadership, United States of America.

Carnall C and Roebuck C, 2015 Strategic Leadership Development, Palmgrave, UK.

Chandrasekar, A & Zhao, S 2015, Creating a dynamic and sustainable talent ecosystem, Center for Creative Leadership, United States of America.

Chapman, J 2005, *Recruitment, retention, and development of school principals*, Education policy booklet series, International Academy of Education (IAE) and the International Institute for Educational Planning (IIEP), UNESCO, Paris.

Church AH, Rotolo CT, Ginther NM, Levine R, 2015 *How are top companies designing and managing their high-potential programs?* A follow up talent management benchmark study. Consulting Psychology Journal, Practice and Research. Vol. 67, No. 1, 17-47.

Clarke, S, 2017 'Nourishing teachers' leadership for learning: Insights from practitioner research', paper presented at the ACER Research conference, Melbourne, 28 August 2017.

Dalziel, MM, 2010 Strategies for leadership and executive development. In Gold J, Thorpe R, Mumford A (Eds.) Gower Handbook of Leadership and Management Development Fifth Edition Gower Publishing Company USA p. 99-116.

Day, C, Gu, Q & Sammons, P 2016, 'The impact of leadership on student outcomes: How successful leaders use transformational and instructional strategies to make a difference', *Educational Administration Quarterly*, vol.52, pp. 221-258.

Deloitte 2015, Induction Environment Scan Report, The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne, unpublished.

DeRue, D.S & Myers, C 2014, 'Leadership Development: A review and agenda for future research in D Harrison (ed.)', Oxford Handbook of Leadership and Organisations, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Dinham, Stephen 2016, Leading Learning and Teaching, ACER Press, Melbourne p. v-vi.

Erdogan, B & Bauer, T 2015, Leader-Member Exchange Theory, Portland, OR.

Goleman, D 2016 'Emotional Intelligence: How Competent Are You?' Leadership & Management, *Your Career*, viewed 18 September 2017, <<u>www.linkedin.com/pulse/emotional-intelligence-how-competent-you-daniel-goleman</u>>.

Gurvis, J, McCauley, C & Swofford, M 2016, Putting experience at the Center of Talent Management, Center for Creative Leadership, United States of America.

Hattie. J 2015, 'High-Impact leadership', Educational Leadership, vol. 72, no. 5, pp 36-40.

Human Capital Institute 2013, Leadership and Emotional Intelligence: The keys to driving ROI and organisational performance, New York.

Hunt, V, Layton, D & Prince, S 2015, Why diversity matters, McKinsey & Company, London.

Jensen, B, 2017, 'International review of school leadership development', The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne, unpublished.

Jensen, B, Sonnemann, J, Roberts-Hill, K & Hunter, A 2016, *Beyond PD: Teacher Professional Learning in High-Performing Systems*, National Centre on Education and the Economy, Washington DC.

Johnson J I and Cacioppe R 2012, Leader/ship Development: Moving in Place or Moving Forward: A Review of Theories, Methods and Effectiveness of Leader/ship Development. Unpublished Paper.

Kotlyar I, Karakowsky L, Ducharme, M J and Boekhorst 2012, 'Do "rising stars" avoid risk?: status-based labels and decision making' *Leadership and Organisation Development*, Journal vol, 35, Issue 2. Pp. 121-136.

Lacerenza, C, Reyes, D, Marlow, S, & Joseph, D 2017, 'Leadership Training Design, Delivery, and Implementation: A Meta-Analysis, in CN Lacerenza (et al.)', *Journal of Applied Psychology*, United States of America.

Leithwood, K, Seashore, K, Anderson, S & Wahlstrom, K 2004, *Review of research: How leadership influences student learning*, Wallace Foundation, New York.

Mabey, C (2013) 'Leadership development in organisations: multiple discourses and diverse practices'. International Journal of Management Reviews. Vol. 15, 359-380.

McCall, M W (1998) High Flyers: Developing the next generation of leaders, Harvard Business School Press, USA p. 15.

McCauley, C, Moxley, R & Van Velsor, E 2003, 'Centre for creative leadership – Handbook of Leadership Development', *National College of School Leaders*, United Kingdom.

Melbourne Business School, 2017, *Melbourne Business School report*, The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne, unpublished.

Orazi, D, Good L, Robin M, Van Wanrooy B, Butar Butar I, Olsen J, Gahan P 2014, 'Workplace Leadership: a review of prior research' Centre for Workplace Leadership.

Pearson – TalentLens 2012, ITT Report: Designed to support ITT providers in their assessment process, Pearson, France.

Peterson. R 'Building community leaders - Workbook 4: Appreciating power', The Nuffield Trust, United Kingdom.

Pont, B, Nuseche, D & Moorman, H 2008, Improving school leadership Volume 1: Policy and practice, OECD Publications, France.

*Quality Schools, Quality Outcomes*, 2017 Australian Government, Department of Education and Training, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory, viewed 18 September 2017, <<u>www.education.gov.au/quality-schools-quality-outcomes</u>>.

Reyes-Guerra, D, Pisapia, J & Mick, A 2016, 'The preparation of cognitively agile principals for turnaround schools: a leadership preparation programme study', *School leadership and management*, vol.36, no. 4.

Robinson, V, Lloyd, C & Rowe, K 2008, 'The impact of leadership on student outcomes: An analysis of the differential effects of leadership types', *Educational Administration Quarterly*, vol. 44, no. 5 pp 635-674.

Santana, L & Pappa, K 2015, Challenge: Developing, Retaining, and promoting talented women, Center for Creative Leadership, United States of America.

Schleicher, A (ed.) 2012, Preparing teachers and developing school leaders for the 21st century – Lessons from around the world, OECD publishing, Paris.

Stol, A 2005, 'Evaluating Leadership Training: A longitudinal study investigating individual and organisational impact', PhD thesis, University of Melbourne, Melbourne.

Timperley, H 2011, 'Knowledge and the Leadership of Learning' *Leadership and Policy in schools*, vol. 10, no.2, viewed 18 September 2017, <<u>www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15700763.2011.557519?src=recsys&journalCod e=nlps20</u>>.

Ven de Grift, W, Chun, S, Maulana, R, Lee, O & Helms-Lorenz, M 2017 'Measuring teaching quality and student engagement in South Korea and The Netherlands', School Effectiveness and School Improvement, vol. 28, no. 3, pp 337-349, viewed 18 September 2017, <<u>www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/09243453.2016.1263215?needAccess=true></u>.

The Wallace Foundation 2015, Building principals pipelines: A strategy to strengthen education leadership, New York.

Watterston, B 2017, School Leadership Roundtable Paper – Developing self and others: professional learning, The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Melbourne, unpublished.

Watterston, B & Cole, P 2015, Principal Preparation: An investigation into principal certification, prepared for Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, Watterston Consulting, Cheltenham.

Wilson P 2010, People@work/2020 Australian Human Resource Institute White Paper.

Younger, D 2008, Critical Incident Interviewing as an Assessment tool National Conference on First Year Assessment, <<u>www.hr-survey.com/Critical Incident Interview Guide.htm</u>>.

## **Connect with us**

Requests for information and queries about this document can be sent to info@aitsl.edu.au

AITSL has a range of useful tools and resources available on our website for teachers and leaders. You can also subscribe to our e-newsletter to have the latest news and resources delivered straight to your email inbox. aitsl.edu.au
 twitter.com/aitsl
 facebook.com/aitsl
 linkedin.com/company/aitsleduau
 aitsl.edu.au/subscribe





aitsl.edu.au

Telephone: +61 3 9944 1200 Email: info@aitsl.edu.au

AITSL is funded by the Australian Government